
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
 
Annual Board Meeting Minutes – 111th Meeting  
 
March 7, 2012 
 
Board members present: Rick Applegate (by telephone), Joe Benetti (joined the meeting at 
2:45 pm), Julie Brandis, Ken Canon, Jason Eisdorfer, Dan Enloe, Roger Hamilton, Julie 
Hammond, Jeff King, Debbie Kitchin, Alan Meyer, Bob Repine (ODOE special advisor), John 
Reynolds, John Savage (OPUC ex officio-by telephone) 
 
Staff attending:  Scott Clark, Amber Cole, Phil Degens, Fred Gordon, Hannah Hacker, Margie 
Harris, Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample, John Volkman, Jed Jorgensen, Betsy 
Kauffman, Thad Roth, Chris Dearth, Tara Crookshank, Steven Jonas, Dan Rubado, Cheryle 
Easton 
 
Others attending: Juliet Johnson (OPUC by phone), Kari Greer (Pacific Power), Jim 
Abrahamson (Cascade Natural Gas), Don Jones, Jr. (Pacific Power), Roger Spring (Evergreen 
Consulting Group), Charlie Grist (Northwest Power and Conservation Council), Lauren 
Shapton (Portland General Electric), Kendall Youngblood (PECI), David Ebsen (OIT), Sarah 
Reuter (OIT), Toni Boyd (OIT), Andrew Abbott (OIT), Mary Ann Zemke (OIT), Bill Edmonds 
(NW Natural) 
 
Business Meeting 
 
President John Reynolds called the regular and annual meeting to order at 12:07 p.m. John 
announced the Policy Committee report would be moved first within the Committee Report 
agenda item to accommodate Jason Eisdorfer’s schedule. 
 
General Public Comments 
 
There were none.  
 
Consent Agenda 
 
The consent agenda may be approved by a single motion, second and vote of the board. 
Any item on the consent agenda will be moved to the regular agenda upon the request from 
any member of the board.  
 
MOTION: Approve consent agenda 
 
Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Ken Canon 
Vote: In favor: 10   Abstained: 0 
 Opposed: 0 
 
  







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
2


Consent agenda included three items: 
 
1) December 16 board meeting minutes 
2) Amending program approval policy (Resolution 620) 
3) Incentive payment structure adjustment – 45 Mile Hydro project (Resolution 621) 
 
Amending program approval policy (Resolution 620) 


 
RESOLUTION 620 


AMENDING BOARD POLICY ON PROGRAM APPROVAL  


WHEREAS: 
1. The current board policy on approval of programs was adopted in 2005 to ensure that 


programs are operated according to board-approved parameters adopted in annual 
budgets, with periodic reporting of significant changes in major program parameters, 
or variances from authorized objectives.  


2. The policy, which was amended in 2008 to allow staff flexibility to move budget funds 
between program budgets within a given sector, has worked effectively. 


3. Among other things, the current policy requires staff to report to the board quarterly 
on variances from levelized cost and cost-effectiveness parameters. This information 
used to be included in quarterly OPUC reports. OPUC quarterly reports no longer 
include these specific data. 


4. The changes authorized below, which were reviewed and approved by the board 
policy committee, will support the board’s diligent oversight of program performance 
by addressing whether a program’s cost-effectiveness shows a negative trend, and 
some of the terminology in the current policy has become outdated. 


It is therefore RESOLVED, that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
authorizes the changes in the board’s program approval policy shown in Attachment A to 
this resolution. 


 
Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Ken Canon 


Vote: In favor:10 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
ATTACHMENT A 
4.22.000-P Program Approval Process  


 
Purpose: 


 1.  Historically, the Board has approved programs in resolutions that specify 
projected energy savings and cost/aMW and estimated budget allocations 
for such items as incentives, marketing, administration and evaluation. 
Specific terms of program management have typically been addressed in 
separate resolutions authorizing program management contracts.  







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
3


 2.  Experience has shown that if staff and contractors adhere to the original 
terms and conditions identified in Board resolutions authorizing programs, 
the programs may lose momentum while staff seeks approval to change 
program delivery, and considerable Board and staff time are consumed in 
complex and confusing adjustments. 


 3.  Energy Trust has enough experience with these programs to warrant revising this 
process to make it more efficient.  


  
It is therefore RESOLVED: 
 


1.   The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors hereby authorizes all existing 
programs to:  


a.   Operate under a not-to-exceed budget cap established by the Board in the 
annual budget approval process or by special resolution; staff is authorized to 
manage the program within this budget until the next annual budget review; 
staff may move budgeted funds from one program to another within the same 
program sector (residential, commercial and industrial) without board approval.  


b.   Be managed to achieve a best casestretch energy savings and cost/aMW goal, 
recognizing that actual performance may achieve only a more conservative 
level below which the program would be reevaluated. 
  


2.   The Board will continue to review and approve program management contract terms. 
  
3.   Staff will provide the Board with quarterly status reports based on energy savings by 


program and sector (not individual contract). Reports would identify issues regarding 
program performance, including such as: 


a.   Where a program’s long-term cost-effectiveness is trending in a negative 
direction($/aMW or levelized cost per kWh and therm) compared to the most 
recent action plan forecast, and/or whether the program is apt not expected to 
be cost-effective once it hits steady-state.  


b.   Whether the program is not expected to achieve significant savings over its life. 
c.   If a quarterly report shows that a program is trending below the conservative 


end of its authorized $/aMW rangegoal, the Board may call for an action plan to 
address the short-fall. 


4.  Staff will provide an update to the board on any movement of funds from one program 
to another at the next board meeting following such movement. 


 
5. The Board retains discretion to modify or discontinue a program if it is not meeting 


expectations. 
  
6.   The Board will use the budget and action plan process to review, modify and adjust 


program goals and budget caps. 
 


  







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
4


Incentive payment structure adjustment – 45 Mile Hydro project (Resolution 621) 
 


RESOLUTION 621 
APPROVING A CHANGE IN THE INCENTIVE PAYMENT STRUCTURE FOR THE EBD 


HYDRO LLC GENERATION PROJECT  


WHEREAS: 
1. EBD Hydro LLC proposes to develop at 3.5 megawatt hydropower facility expected to 


generate 11,750 megawatt hours annually.  
2. In September 2010 Energy Trust’s Board of Directors approved Resolution 563, 


authorizing a $2,000,000 incentive to be paid in equal amounts ($400,000) over the 
course of five years to EBD Hydro, LLC to offset the above-market costs of the 
hydroelectric plant. 


3. EBD Hydro, LLC has requested a change in the structure of the incentive payment 
schedule to meet the needs of their contractor. 


4. Staff proposes to change the incentive payment structure as follows: $1,000,000 to be 
paid upon commercial operation and the remainder ($1,000,000) to be paid annually in 
equal increments over no less than three years. 


5. EBD Hydro, LLC will make this change risk-neutral to Energy Trust by providing 
$600,000 security in the form of either: 1) Cash in a reserve account, 2) a Letter of 
Credit, 3) a repayment guarantee from a credit-worthy party, or 4) another form of 
security acceptable to Energy Trust. 


6. Energy Trust will further secure this change by taking a second position lien on all of 
the assets of EBD Hydro, LLC. 


7. Resolution 563 authorized Energy Trust to take ownership of 48% of the Renewable 
Energy Certificates (RECs) generated by the project.  


8. The new payment structure increases the net present value of Energy Trust’s 
incentive and therefore Energy Trust will take ownership of a larger percentage of the 
RECs generated by the project. 


It is therefore RESOLVED, that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
authorizes: 


1. Payment of up to $2,000,000 to be paid to EBD, LLC to offset the above-market costs 
of the hydroelectric plant, with an initial payment of $1 million on commercial 
operation and subsequent payments over no less than three years;  


2. Energy Trust to take ownership of at least 51% of the Renewable Energy Certificates 
produced by the project; and 


3. The executive director to enter into a contract(s) consistent with this resolution. 
 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Ken Canon 
Vote: In favor: 10 Abstained: 0 
 Opposed: 0 


 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
5


Nominating Committee 


Resolution 618 electing Rick Applegate and Jason Eisdorfer to new terms on the 
Energy Trust board 
Alan Meyer, chair of the Board Nominating Committee, introduced the resolution. The 
terms of three board members, Rick Applegate, Jason Eisdorfer and Julie Hammond, 
expire in 2012. Alan said Jason and Rick have expressed interest in being reelected for 
a new term. Julie H announced she will be unable to continue serving as a board 
member once her current term expires. John R and the rest of the board acknowledged 
Julie H’s service to the board and thanked her for her contributions and leadership.  
 
Dan Enloe arrived at 12:10 p.m. 


RESOLUTION 618 
 ELECTING RICK APPLEGATE AND JASON EISDORFER TO NEW TERMS 


ON THE ENERGY TRUST BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
WHEREAS: 
1. The terms of incumbent board members Rick Applegate and Jason Eisdorfer expire in 


2012. 
2. The board nominating committee has recommended that these members’ terms be 


renewed. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors elects Rick Applegate and 


Jason Eisdorfer incumbent board members, to new terms of office that end in 2015. 
 
Moved by: Alan Meyer Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 
Vote: In favor: 11  Abstained: 0 
 Opposed: 0 


Resolution 619, electing officers of the Energy Trust board 
Alan Meyer, chair of the Board Nominating Committee, introduced the resolution. Alan 
said the nominating committee proposes to reelect the following board members to 
their same positions as officers on the board of directors: John Reynolds as president, 
Debbie Kitchin as vice president, Rick Applegate as secretary and Dan Enloe as 
treasurer.  


RESOLUTION 619 
ELECTING OFFICERS OF  


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
 


WHEREAS: 
1. Officers of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (other than the Executive Director and a 


Chief Financial Officer) are elected by the Board of Directors at the board’s annual 
meeting.  







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
6


2. The Board of Directors nominating committee has nominated the following directors 
to renew their terms as officers: 
• John Reynolds, President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Vice President 
• Rick Applegate, Secretary 
• Dan Enloe, Treasurer 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. That the Board of Directors hereby elects the following as officers of Energy Trust of 


Oregon, Inc., for 2012: 
• John Reynolds, President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Vice President 
• Rick Applegate, Secretary 
• Dan Enloe, Treasurer 


 
Moved by: Alan Meyer Seconded by: Roger Hamilton 
Vote: In favor: 11  Abstained: 0 
 Opposed: 0 


President’s Report 


John Reynolds delivered his President’s report, a recollection of the start-up of the Energy 
Trust board in 2001. He said that even though Energy Trust was not yet receiving public 
purpose funds, the Energy Trust board of directors was meeting to set up the new nonprofit. 
Acting Executive Director Marc Smiley asked each board member at the July 12, 2001, board 
meeting to write a “Letter from 2011.” The purpose of the letter was to project what Energy 
Trust will have accomplished in 10 years and provide a look into the future.  
 
John read the letter he wrote, including a few hindsight editorial comments. He described it as 
a fitting gesture given Energy Trust’s recent marking of its 10-year anniversary on March 1, 
2012. 
 
John suggested the board be asked to write such a letter again, this time projecting Energy 
Trust’s accomplishments by 2025 and what predictions would be made. 


Energy Programs 


Resolution 623, Oregon Institute of Technology 1.5 MW Geothermal Project 
Jason Eisdorfer introduced the project. Jason modified the resolution to correct a typo 
mentioning “hydropower facility” and inserting “geothermal electric facility” Instead. 
 
Jason introduced Betsy Kauffman. Betsy manages the Other Renewables program, which 
includes hydropower, geothermal and wind projects. Betsy introduced Oregon Institute of 
Technology (OIT) representatives who joined the meeting by phone: David Ebsen, Sarah 
Reuter, Toni Boyd, Andrew Abbott and Mary Ann Zemke. 
 
Betsy said the program is asking the board to approve a $1.55 million incentive for a 
geothermal project at the OIT campus in Klamath Falls. Betsy described this as the second 
geothermal project at the campus that includes Energy Trust and OIT collaboration. The first 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
7


project has been operating for two years. OIT has been operating geothermal wells since the 
1960s. Betsy said OIT project owners are very good at operating geothermal systems, and that 
the first project is doing well and meeting its performance targets. 
 
Betsy described the project before the board today: a 1.5 MW project expected to be 
completed by the end of 2012. The project will use 196 degree Fahrenheit water from a 5,308 
foot well drilled two years ago. The well has 2,500 gallons per minute (gpm) in flow and this 
project will use 80 percent of that flow. It is expected to generate 7,646 MWh annually, 0.87 
aMW. The electricity generated will offset campus electrical load. OIT’s current retail rate is 
approximately $0.05 per kilowatt hour. Excess production, expected at about 287 MWh per 
year, will be sold to Pacific Power under a non-firm rate contract.  
 
OIT is partnering with Johnson Controls, who designed the project and generator. OIT’s project 
goals are to cover interest on bonds, break even on the project by year 20 and use the project 
for educational purposes on campus. 
 
Betsy described the project technology as binary geothermal technology. The geothermal unit 
will have a closed system with a working fluid that has a boiling point lower than water. The 
geothermal water will be used to heat the working fluid, creating steam and spinning a turbine. 
The project will have two units operating in series; the full amount of flow (2,000 gpm) will go to 
the first unit and with the remaining flow going to the second unit.  
 
Betsy described that electricity production in a geothermal project is a function of the amount 
of flow and the temperature differential between the hot and cold in the working fluid. With the 
series arrangement for this project, by using the full amount of flow in each unit, the campus 
will derive the most heat from the geothermal water before re-injecting it. The design will also 
run the cooling water in the reverse direction from the hot water to maximize the difference in 
temperature between the cooling water and the hot geothermal water. Johnson Controls is 
getting a US Department of Energy grant for the series design. 
 
OIT has had initial meetings with Pacific Power regarding interconnection. OIT owns the two 
main power lines going into the campus, and has full site control. The permitting process is 
complete. 
 
John: Why just 7646 MWh in generation when the size of the project is 1.5 MW? 
Betsy: There’s parasitic load – power produced by the project that is used for pumping and for 
running the project’s machinery. 
 
Jeff: What’s the commercial status of the units? 
Betsy: Johnson Controls received the US DOE grant for the flow and series arrangement and 
this is the innovative part of the project. The binary technology is commercially available. 
David Ebsen, OIT: To be a commercially viable unit, the project needs to prove the 
arrangement of the units in series works. 
 
Alan: I’m surprised by the $0.05 per kWh rate, but astounded by the $0.02 per kWh they are 
getting from Pacific Power. I thought avoided cost rates were higher than that.  
Betsy: Not for non-firm rates. Non-firm rates are lower than standard avoided cost QF rates. 
The latest avoided cost rates filed by Pacific Power show the first four years are less than 
$0.05 per kWh. OIT could have been a qualifying facility and sold everything at the standard 
avoided cost rates but that would have carried penalties in the event of underproduction.   
 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
8


Roger: What’s the percentage of load the project is supplying for the campus? 
David, OIT: On average, 70 percent of the campus electricity needs will be provided by 
this project. 
 
Ken: I thought the Pacific Power larger retail rate was $0.062 per kWh. Is the $0.05 per kWh 
listed here 2 or 3 years old? 
David: $0.05 is our rate without surcharges. 
 
Betsy described the financials, including revenue primarily from OIT not having to purchase 
electricity. Net present value (NPV) of the revenue stream is $6.04 million plus $7.68 million in 
grants, totaling NPV $13.7 million revenue. NPV costs of $15.3 million are for capitalized cost, 
operations and maintenance expenses. The above-market cost is $1.57 million. An independent 
analysis of the project showed these figures to be standard and reasonable. 
 
Staff proposes an incentive of $1.55 million, a Net Present Value of $1.48 million. This amount 
represents 95 percent of the above-market costs. Energy Trust will take title to 95 percent of the 
RECs (year 2-20). With this incentive, the project is expected to break even in year 19. 
 
Ken: What happens with the project after year 20? 
Betsy: We expect the project to continue operating. Our confidence in the project comes from 
OIT’s long history and experience with geothermal. 
 
Roger: Is there heat loss between unit 1 and unit 2? 
Betsy: Yes, and there will be enough left to continue to get more heat and produce steam. 
Roger: And you’re able to do this at 196 degrees? 
Betsy: Yes, the working fluid in the machine boils at a lower temperature than water. 
Roger: Is there a combined heat and power potential after the second unit? 
Betsy: OIT will use some of the heat for campus heating. 
David: After the geothermal fluids are run through the power generation system, we will use it 
for direct water heating in our existing heating system. 
Betsy: By using the water a second time, there are some losses, and the additional flow makes 
up for that. Remember, that more flow equals more energy value from the water. 
 
Betsy continued describing the financials and the incentive compared to other project 
incentives. This project is 0.87 aMW, which is $1.69 million per aMW. The project is within the 
target range of $1.4 million to $4.6 million per aMW. The incentive is less than the $6.4 million 
per aMW for the first OIT geothermal project. Across technologies, this project is more 
expensive than the Klamath irrigation district ($1.04 per aMW) and less than the RES biopower 
project ($2.2 million per aMW) and the Christmas Valley solar project ($4.36 million per aMW). 
 
The Renewable Energy Advisory Council reviewed and supported the project at its meeting 
February 15.  
 
Dan: The low cost per aMW is significant, plus knowing this is supplying energy for baseload 
needs.  
 
Jeff: What capacity factor is the project assumed to be running at? 
Betsy: OIT has a guarantee from Johnson Controls to produce 7,646 MWh per year. 
Jeff: There’s some concern with geothermal projects, especially those with binary technology, 
having start up problems. Is this accounted for in the financials? And would Energy Trust take 
any action if the project is not operating at estimated capacity factor? 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
9


Betsy: We have payback provisions in the contract that we can exercise if needed. Typically, we 
allow for a certain amount of time to get things operating as expected. Staff is confident in this 
system because OIT has experience with running another binary unit on campus. 
David, OIT: We have a contract with Johnson Controls that includes penalties for 
underperformance. We expect a little bit of time for tweaking the unit to get it to its maximum 
output. 
 
Dan: What is the average annual uptime of the existing operating system? 
David, OIT: The first project was down 25 days during the last calendar for repair, maintenance 
and tweaking of controls to improve output. 
Betsy: The first project hit 95 percent of what Energy Trust expected the system to deliver in 
the last 12 months. 


 
RESOLUTION 623 


APPROVING FUNDS FOR THE OREGON INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY 1.5 MW 
GEOTHERMAL PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 
1. Oregon Institute of Technology proposes to develop a 1.5 megawatt geothermal 


electric facility expected to generate 7,646 megawatt hours annually.  
2. Staff and an independent contractor reviewed the project design and costs and found 


them to be standard and reasonable for projects of similar type and design. 
3. The net-present value of the project’s above-market costs is $1,566,843 over 20 years. 
4. Staff proposes a $1,550,000 incentive, 95% of the above market costs and a net 


present value of $1,480,000, to be paid upon project commissioning. 
5. At the proposed incentive, the project’s energy would cost Energy Trust about $1.69 


million per average megawatt (aMW), which is within the target range for the Other 
Renewables Program ($1.39 – $4.62 million). 


6. Funds to support this project are in the 2012 board-approved budget. 


It is therefore RESOLVED, that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
authorizes: 
1. Payment of up to $1,550,000 to be paid to Oregon Institute of Technology  to offset 


the above-market costs of the geothermal plant;  
2. Energy Trust to take ownership of at least 95% of the renewable energy credits 


produced by the project; and 
3. The executive director to enter into a contract(s) consistent with this resolution. 
 
Moved by: Roger Hamilton Seconded by: Dan Enloe 
Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 
 Opposed: 0 


Resolution 622, authorizing a three-year funding agreement with the Northwest Power 
and Conservation Council for co-funding of the Regional Technical Forum. 
Jason introduced the resolution, which authorizes the executive director to sign a 3-year 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
10


contract totaling $875,000 with the Northwest Power and Conservation Council (Power 
Council) to co-fund the Regional Technical Forum (RTF). Fred Gordon presented and 
introduced Charlie Grist of the Power Council.  
 
Fred described past Energy Trust funding of the RTF. The contract is brought before the board 
now because it is above the $500,000 executive director signing threshold. Fred said Energy 
Trust has moved to increase funding over the past few years. The RTF does analyses of 
savings, cost, measure life and load shape for prescriptive measures, and provides an expert 
forum that helps the region develop information on measure elements. Fred said there are 
hundreds of measures Energy Trust staff would otherwise have to analyze and the RTF helps 
perform these and other functions on a regional basis, providing economies of scale and other 
benefits. 
 
Fred said the RTF is now asking for three years of funding to implement regionally agreed 
upon priorities identified in their business plan and also enable staff stability.  This puts Energy 
Trust’s contract in a three-year instead of a year-by-year period. The historic negotiated 
process of annually securing agreement for funding consumed a major proportion of labor 
hours for the RTF. The RTF and its funders agreed to a three-year funding period so the RTF 
can instead focus on its core business. 
 
Ken Canon provided additional background on the RTF, referencing the Northwest Energy 
Efficiency Taskforce (NEET) identification of the RTF as one of the priorities to look at 
regionally. This analysis was led by Bill Drummond, who facilitated a work group focused on 
the RTF. Attention was paid on how to make the RTF more durable and stable. The task force 
recommended creating a Policy Committee in addition to the Technical Committee and to 
replace the one year funding cycle. This was supported by NEET and the Policy Committee 
was formed.  
 
Charlie Grist introduced himself as a staff member at the Power Council who supports the RTF 
as its vice chair with Tom Eckman as the chair. Charlie described the Pacific Northwest as 
building a large portfolio of annual energy savings and that we need a way to measure them. 
The energy-efficiency savings have been cheap but as the region does more, we need to more 
accurately measure to further improve programs. The RTF has proven valuable in this regard 
and regional regulators have come to rely on the RTF for this work. 
 
The RTF was conceived of in 1996 when Congress charged the Power Council and BPA to 
develop consistent standards and protocols for verification and evaluation of energy efficiency. 
In 1999, the Power Council formed the RTF. 
 
Today, the RTF develops estimates that utilities and regulators can rely on. It provides a 
centralized and unbiased technical review of energy savings data, assumptions, cost 
effectiveness, and measurement and verification. The Forum builds on empirical data, and 
provides an open public setting to vet claims and keep up with changes. The RTF seeks value 
by being open, having peer review and providing economies of scale. Charlie said utilities, 
BPA and Energy Trust and other regional utilities rely on the RTF to reduce what would 
otherwise be higher evaluation costs. Regulators use the RTF to establish standards, and 
evaluators to convey expectations and describe methods.  
 
Roger: Why can’t this be done on a more regional scale, either by including California or on a 
national scale? Also, if you’re getting funding from utilities and Energy Trust, is that double 
dipping on ratepayer funding? 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
11


Fred: Energy Trust funds the RTF on behalf of the Oregon utilities, PGE and Pacific Power. 
Charlie: To the first question, it was created by Congress who gave the Power Council 
authority to create the RTF for the Pacific Northwest. California has its own structure. We 
sometimes share data and there is collaboration. But there are burdens that can come from 
the California regulatory structure. In addition, there are several RTF projects where funding is 
secured from outside organizations. 
Fred: There’s a fundamental difference in climate and rate structure between the Pacific 
Northwest and California. California doesn’t have the same use of hydro and is focused on 
different values, like a high summer peak and a heating load that doesn’t look like ours. 
Roger: But your research can help other parts of the country. 
Charlie: You’re right and we do collaborate and share information with others when it’s 
applicable. 
 
Charlie described the structure of RTF and how it advises the Power Council:  


1. RTF scientific and statistical advisory group: 20-30 voting members, appointed by the 
Power Council, based on technical expertise, regulatory staff (non-voting), and 
candidates solicited widely. One member is Energy Trust’s Nick O’Neil. 


2. RTF policy advisory group: Stakeholder advisory group of funders, regulators and two 
public interest groups. These members advise on priorities, funding and progress, and 
are appointed by the Power Council. One member is Energy Trust’s Fred Gordon. 


 
Alan: Two public interest groups? 
Charlie: Ralph Cavanaugh from the Natural Resources Defense Council and Sara Patton from 
the NW Energy Coalition. 
 
Jason: Who are the policy advisory members? 
Charlie: There is one member for every key funder, and there are 13 key funders. 
Jason: How are they appointed? 
Charlie: By the Power Council. The RTF has a charter and is exclusively designed to get 
stakeholder input but to keep the stakeholder input separate from the unbiased research. 
 
Charlie mentioned the RTF has a website, which includes a library with over 90 unit energy 
savings measures, savings methodologies, calculators, software, tools, data, meeting minutes, 
meeting agendas and reports. The website provides transparency to the RTF. The RTF has 20 
subcommittees and produces quarterly newsletters and an annual report. 
 
Charlie described the Forum’s funding, which is just under $1.4 million for 2011. They are 
looking for slightly more than $1.4 million per year for three years starting in 2012. The RTF is 
funded similarly to how NEEA is funded, largely a load based formula. Energy Trust’s co-
funding is $308,000 per year.  
 
Alan: How do public utilities fund? 
Charlie: BPA picks up the majority of the public utility funding. If a public utility has self 
generation, the utility then picks up a share in line with their self generation. 
 
Charlie mentioned that without the RTF, Energy Trust would have to go out and perform 
similar functions at greater costs. 
 
Dan: I have a question for Debbie Kitchin: What’s the value of Energy Trust participating? 
Debbie: Very valuable, as each utility doesn’t have to do the same work, and we can share the 
work and leverage it better. Plus, there’s better peer review. 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
12


John R: See this as valuable to the Conservation Advisory Council, too, in helping resolve any 
disputes. 
Debbie: The RTF helps improve the integrity of our numbers and allows us to do other 
work. 
Fred: We would need more than 1 FTE to replace the work the RTF does. The peer review 
improves our credibility, especially for those who are not intimate with our work. 
 


RESOLUTION 622 
AUTHORIZING A THREE-YEAR FUNDING AGREEMENT WITH THE NORTHWEST 
POWER AND CONSERVATION COUNCIL FOR CO-FUNDING OF THE REGIONAL 


TECHNICAL FORUM 


WHEREAS: 
1. The Regional Technical Forum (RTF), has been Energy Trust’s most useful external 


resource for estimates of electric efficiency measure cost, savings, measure life, and 
load shape. 


2. It is in Energy Trust’s interest to provide RTF with a stable and predictable source of 
funding. 


3. Staff may negotiate a contract with Northwest Power and Conservation Council to co-
fund the RTF. The agreement will include, among others, the following terms: 


• Energy Trust’s funding obligations would be subject to several contingencies 
relating to changes in law, regulation, the RTF charter, termination of the OPUC 
grant agreement, or if Energy Trust does not receive adequate assurance of funds 
from its funding utilities. 


• Energy Trust may withdraw funding, after appropriate notice and consultation, if 
the RTF does not make due progress toward its goals or other funders withdraw 
support such that Energy Trust’s funding burden would significantly increase. 


• Subject to these contingencies, Energy Trust payments would be: 
o 2012: $258,652 
o 2013: up to $308,000 
o 2014: up to $308,000 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
The Executive Director is authorized to sign a contract with the Northwest Power and 
Conservation Council committing Energy Trust to pay up to $874,652 over the 2012-2014 
period for co-funding of the Regional Technical Forum, subject to the conditions outlined 
above. 
 
Moved by: Julie Hammond Seconded by: Jason Eisdorfer 
Vote: In favor: 11 Abstained: 0 
 Opposed: 0 
 
  







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
13


ISI Quarterly Report and Project Update 
 
Margie Harris first thanked Charlie and Tom for their work on the RTF. She said the 
Power Council and the RTF are unique and are significant to the region and Energy 
Trust. 
 
Margie presented the quarterly Integrated Solutions Implementation Project (ISIP) update. She 
said the project has five different major workstreams concurrently underway as part of Phase 1 
of the project as outlined to the board last November. Staff is targeting completion of this 
extensive work by the end of Quarter 3 2012:  


1. Process analysis and design workstream 
a. Matt Chatum is the new team lead on this and works with companies on 


process documentation 
2. Data modeling workstream 


a. Streamlining on how we gather, analyze and report on data 
b. Brian Sinclair is the workstream lead, and has a strong understanding of data 


modeling and data structures 
3. Budgeting and forecasting workstream 


a. To develop new and better capabilities, especially during end of year when we 
want to compare how we are doing against goals 


b. Insight was provided by Dan Garrett who conducted an in-depth workshop 
c. Sue Meyer Sample and Pati Presnail are assuming internal leadership 
d. The solution will use our existing Excel based system for forecasting 


4. Customer relationship management (CRM) workstream 
a. Will ultimately replace GoldMine, which has limited integration with our project 


tracking 
b. Meredith Burkemeyer will facilitate the workshop next week 
c. Working to define the priorities and scope  
d. This element will continue into Phase 2 of ISIP 


5. Great Plains upgrade (financial system) workstream 
a. Upgrading our current Great Plains software 
b. Working with Roger Borek and his technology firm  
c. Currently testing the system, and expect to go live end of March 
d. First workstream that will be complete 


 
Margie said she meets weekly with Scott Clark, ISIP project sponsor and IT director, to cover 
project timeline, progress and budget. Scott brings enthusiasm, expertise and a deep 
knowledge base to the project. 
 
Julie B: How does today’s update relate to earlier conversations on this subject? 
Margie: Earlier calls regarded our relationship with Epicor software company. As soon as I 
have resolution on this, I will update the board. 
 
Break 
 
Meeting break at 1:27 p.m.; meeting reconvened at 1:45 p.m. 
 
Bob Repine said he regretted not being able to make Energy Trust’s Open House on March 6. 
He mentioned an Oregon Department of Energy staff member, Vijay Satyal, who attended in 
his absence and reported it was a good event. 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
14


 
Bob said the Oregon Department of Energy has historically produced posters of various scenic 
Cascade Mountain images. He presented Margie with a poster of a Cascade Mountain with the 
caption “Saving energy saves everything.” He said he hopes Margie can find a good spot for it 
in Energy Trust’s office space. He also said the Oregon Department of Energy is looking at 
relocating and is meeting with the property manager to include energy efficiency.  


Committee Reports 


Policy Committee (Jason Eisdorfer) 
Jason said the Policy Committee met a few weeks ago to discuss the utility roundtable review 
among other topics. Included under Tab 7 in the board packet is the background and history 
about the utility roundtables. A few years ago, utility representatives expressed a desire for 
more direct communication with the board members, with some expressing interest in having a 
utility representative join the board. Since this is a non-stakeholder board, it was decided that 
utility representation would not be appropriate. However, the desire of the utilities to have more 
direct communication with the board was viewed as valuable and the utility roundtables were 
devised. A few other stakeholders were also invited to the roundtables. In the two-year trial of 
the roundtables, six meetings were held.  
 
Rick and Jason interviewed roundtable participants on how well the utility roundtable solution 
is working. Between February 9 and 14, they met with John Audley of Renewables Northwest 
Project, Bob Jenks of the Citizens Utility Board, Carol Dillin of PGE, Pat Egan of Pacific Power, 
Bill Edmonds of NW Natural, and Jim Abrahamson, Mike Parvinen and Alison Spector of 
Cascade Natural Gas. 
 
Jason said people think the roundtable ranges from valuable to very valuable. No one 
requested the roundtables be stopped. The general sense is this is a working arrangement that 
helps work through issues collaboratively, for example, on how to fill the gap left by the 
Business Energy Tax Credit. It provides an opportunity to air grievances. The roundtables 
enhance communications, allow parties to share data, and foster understanding. 
 
Those interviewed asked whether we should discuss larger energy policy issues. A number of 
participants were interested in this, while several emphasized the need to focus most on core 
issues and the Energy Trust/utility working relationship. 
 
Jason and Rick’s recommendation is to continue the roundtables. Jason invited board 
feedback about the roundtables, and whether they should become a long-term part of the 
board’s structure or just for another two-year period.  
 
Jason mentioned feedback from the participants on having the roundtable at the end of the 
day, allowing participants to have a more informal discussion with board members at the close 
of the meeting.  
 
Rick said the original proposal for utility representation on the board would have added 
complexities, and moved the board to an advocacy board instead of a non-stakeholder board. 
Instead the roundtables give utilities direct communication with the board. In addition to the 
roundtables, there are very regular and successful meetings between Energy Trust staff and 
utility staff. Some of those interviewed suggested that Energy Trust may also be a forum 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
15


outside a government setting to discuss policy issues. The general suggestion is that those 
topics could be proposed by various parties in establishing agendas for each roundtable. 
 
Alan: I support this idea. I’m not sure whether it should be formalized for a longer period or be 
on a two-year basis. Who was looking for an expansion of the discussion into policy issues? 
Jason: It was a mix of utilities and others. One utility in particular did not want the roundtables 
to go in this direction. 
 
Julie B: The meetings have had a certain formality, raising my concern that the utilities feel 
they are reporting to the board. I want to make sure the roundtable is separated from board 
activities. Maybe have a utility co-chair, or rotate between utility and Energy Trust. I think we 
should formalize this. We had the two-year test period and we should build it into our setup. I 
would keep it to strategic energy issues; we need to be careful about how we work around 
policies. Active boards like to be forward-thinking. I like how this board has accepted 
individuals who were formerly from companies that would have originally not been together at 
the table. As we look at vacancies, let’s look for someone who was a former executive at a 
utility, and bring those talents to the table. 
 
Julie H: Other than the last few meetings, the roundtables weren’t very useful to me. At the 
end, there was more interaction. I would be interested in knowing what the staff thinks. We 
need the dialogue to be meaningful, and we need to be clear what we are trying to accomplish 
with each discussion. At the beginning, I wasn’t sure what we were doing, and at the end, I felt 
there was more collaboration. 
 
Jason: The way we create the agenda is to solicit input from the utilities. There are times when 
Energy Trust seems to dominate the agenda because the utilities want to hear from us on an 
issue. There are dozens of items we could bring to the roundtables; the difficult part is knowing 
what to talk about. There were suggestions that the roundtables should be held when there are 
issues to talk about, and not on a set schedule. I think we’ve passed the uncomfortable stage, 
and there is now an understanding that we can carry forward as equals. There was feedback 
that the Business Energy Tax Credit discussion was particularly helpful. 
 
Roger: I think it’s natural to have a tension; the roundtables are a way to break down that 
tension. It’s an important mechanism to engage. 
 
The board discussed the timing of the roundtables in relation to the board meetings, as well as 
room set up to bring a slightly more informal feel to the roundtables and adding a social 
opportunity after the meeting. 
 
Feedback from the utility representatives present at the meeting included: 
 


• Bill Edmonds, NW Natural: I appreciated having the opportunity to give feedback. 
Jason’s summary was well done. 


 
• Jim Abrahamson, Cascade Natural Gas: Jason, Rick and John did a good job of 


summarizing our February meeting reflected in this discussion today. 
 


• Lauren Shapton, PGE: I was not in the meeting with Carol but Carol was grateful for 
the opportunity to talk with the board members. Carol did suggest that to the extent 
board members can learn more about how utilities are structured and motivated, we 
would be happy to give a utility-101.  







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
16


 
• Kari Greer, Pacific Power: I was not in the meeting with Pat but we see these meetings 


as being very valuable. We’re looking forward to the next one.  
 
Debbie: I have an interest in either making it permanent or longer than two years, maybe four 
or five years. 
 
Jason said the next steps are to get together with Jason, Rick, John Reynolds and John 
Volkman to make sure the operating principles are in place. Jason will bring back a resolution 
and recommended set of operating principles at the next in-person board meeting. 
 
Jason Eisdorfer left the meeting at 2:15 p.m. 
 
Audit Committee (Julie Hammond) 
Julie said the committee is waiting for the financial audit, which will soon be available. Ken 
Canon will provide the report at the February 28 board meeting. 
 
The Audit Committee is also beginning the RFP process to select a financial auditor for next 
year. Contracts are typically two years. Perkins & Co. has previously completed the audit for 
the past few years. 
 
Julie added that since she is stepping down from the board after this meeting, Ken Canon has 
agreed to fill her role as chairperson of the Audit Committee. 
 
Compensation/Finance Committee (Dan Enloe) 
Dan discussed the Quarter 4 financials dashboard. In December, Energy Trust delivered a lot 
of incentives within the energy efficiency sector. Dan said that this also shows that we 
employed a lot of people in the economy, and the results are impressive. He mentioned 
Energy Trust exceeded its goals for electric and gas savings, and is doing very well when 
compared to the 2014 strategic goals. For the 2014 renewable energy generation goal, Dan 
said Energy Trust will need new strategies given that the Business Energy Tax Credit is very 
limited compared to the past. 
 
Dan said the Compensation Committee has been focusing on the benefits package for Energy 
Trust. He said the investment advisors have been doing a good job replacing underperforming 
funds while maintaining a range of portfolio choices. 
 
Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 
The last meeting was December 9, 2011, when the committee reviewed four studies. 
 
IEI and Kaizen Blitz evaluations: The studies reviewed the second year of offering these pilots. 
They were very innovative in responding to the cash crunch at industrial facilities that didn’t 
have capital to invest. These offerings were offered as pilots and are now going forward as 
program offerings. 
 
The OPOWER three-month review included survey results and concluded that the program is 
getting cost-effective savings. The survey questions will be modified to get more useful 
information in the future. 
 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
17


Phil Degens: We will cover the six-month survey in the Evaluation Committee meeting 
tomorrow. Also, we are designing the one-year survey, which will go to the 60,000 participants 
and the control group of 60,000 non-participants. We will also do a bill analysis to verify the 
savings OPOWER is indicating. We did a cursory look a few months ago, which showed the 
results OPOWER reported to us are in line with what we saw in our brief billing analysis. 
 
Debbie described the Energy Performance Score (EPS) tool comparison study, the fourth 
study reviewed at the December committee meeting: The EPS is being used by residential 
buildings, and has a miles-per-gallon concept. It’s used in the New Homes program, and this 
study was looking at different tools at how to calculate an EPS for existing homes. Results 
showed potential for some tools, and each test has strengths and weaknesses. It was a 
valuable study as we continue to look at using EPS as a tool to motivate homeowners to take 
action. 
 
Phil: The study results were presented at a stakeholder workshop in January for feedback and 
input. 
Debbie: Depending on how you do the measurement, one home heating fuel choice can look 
more favorable than the other even though the efficiency measures are the same. 
Dan: I’d like to clarify my “do nothing” comment in the committee meeting notes. From the 
purchaser’s perspective, there’s currently nothing that requires disclosure of the utility bills. 
The simple act of requiring utility bill disclosure brings a lot of information to the table. From the 
purchaser point of view, you want to know what house costs less from a utility bill perspective. 
 
Jeff: What is Energy Trust’s role relative to the EPS? 
Margie: State legislation sought to create an EPS. Energy Trust was already working on this 
concept. We had retained services through Earth Advantage, who in turn was working with 
PECI, to develop the first EPS for newly constructed homes. This concept was piloted and 
evaluated. We went further to look at developing an EPS for existing homes. We’ve been in a 
facilitator role. In January, over 100 stakeholders participated in a public meeting to provide 
further feedback on an EPS for existing homes. We’re taking that useful feedback to develop a 
straw man proposal to be presented to the Conservation Advisory Council this April. The 
biggest issue is the site vs. source question, a fuel neutrality issue that brings into question 
how extensive and upstream the model should be used.  
Phil: The EPS meeting was very useful; we’ve been researching EPS for existing homes for 
the last two years. 
Debbie: Will there be meeting notes available from the January stakeholder meeting? 
Amber: There are notes and they will be posted online. 
Fred: Energy Trust is interested in the EPS as a tool for driving people to invest in energy 
efficiency, preferably to our programs. 
 
Joe Benetti joined the meeting at 2:45 p.m. 
 
Debbie: The ultimate goal is to get people to recognize the value of energy efficiency and act.  
Margie: This is a tool to inform and get people to make energy-efficient purchases. 
 
Roger: How to you take into account different fuel mixes by utility? 
Margie: That’s the issue; the strawman will likely propose to use a blend. 
 
  







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
18


Staff Report 
 
Margie presented program and operations highlights, including: 


• Pacific Natural Foods, a Tualatin-based company, is a long-time program participant 
that has 13 buildings and implemented 20 improvement projects in the last 6.5 years. 
This represents the relationship Energy Trust has established with this company on an 
ongoing basis. The company also received an Oregon Leaders Award at the Northwest 
Industrial Energy Efficiency Summit in January 2012. 


 
• Preliminary 2011 results. Energy Trust exceeded stretch goals for electric (106 percent) 


and gas (104 percent), and exceeded stretch goal for Pacific Power and NW Natural. 
We came close to reaching the stretch goal for PGE (97%) and reached 93% of the 
Cascade Natural Gas stretch goal. Though the renewable energy program faced 
challenges related to the absence of the Business Energy Tax Credit, we built a solid 
pipeline of renewable energy projects for 2012 and installed a record number of solar 
electric projects in 2011. The OPUC is looking at how we should measure the success 
of our renewable energy programs given the new and reduced tax credits. Preliminary 
2011 results indicate we helped participants save more than $50 million on their utility 
bills, leveraged an estimated $240 million in private investment, and saved 193,000 
tons of carbon. 


 
• In terms of the fall bonus incentives for Production Efficiency and Existing Buildings, 


staff is unlikely to be able to pinpoint exactly where the bonus moved any one single 
project. We do know that in the aggregate, the effort was effective at delivering savings 
during uncertain times, brought in 43 million kWh, or 10 percent of electric savings, and 
368,000 therms, or 7 percent of gas savings. 


 
Margie also reviewed how Energy Trust delivered on its 2011 budget themes: 


• Achieve accelerated goals: Goal met. Energy Trust grew electric savings by 3 percent 
and gas savings by 17 percent. 


• Customer service: Goal met. Energy Trust is benefiting from the Fast Feedback 
surveys we gather. Satisfaction as high or very high is above 90 percent for four 
programs.  


• Diverse program offerings: Goal met. Customers saw offerings like the OPOWER pilot, 
collaboration with Clean Energy Works Oregon, and opportunities for behavior and 
operation changes through strategic energy management for Existing Buildings and 
Production Efficiency. 


• Input to state policy changes: Energy Trust remains tentative here, and we don’t insert 
ourselves into processes but respond when asked. In 2011, staff provided input on 
Residential Energy Tax Credit and Business Energy Tax Credit revisions, as well as 
Cool Schools legislation, and provided input into the Governor’s 10-Year Energy Plan 
by participating on the energy efficiency task force and climate/carbon subgroup. 


• ISIP: We are on track with a revised schedule 
 
Other highlights included: 


• Celebrating Energy Trust’s Open House and 10-year anniversary yesterday, March 6.  
• Presented, with the OPUC, Oregon Department of Energy, utilities and Power Council, 


to the Governor’s staff on Oregon’s energy history and structure. 
• The Oregon Leaders Awards were presented to six innovative industrial companies; of 


which, four are Energy Trust program participants. 







Discussion Minutes  March 7, 2012 


 
19


• Positive feedback from Production Efficiency participants during the end of the year.  
• CSG provided training to Existing Homes trade allies in Spanish for Spanish-speaking 


technicians. It’s important to look at ways to work with harder-to-reach groups. 
• Two of our program contractors were listed among the “Best Companies to Work For” 


by Oregon Business Magazine: Evergreen Consulting and RHT. Both are Program 
Delivery Contractors for the Production Efficiency program. Roger Spring from 
Evergreen said the growth at his company is driven by Energy Trust’s accelerated 
goals. 


• Energy Trust received an Environmental Protection Agency Sustained Excellence 
Award for the third time for lowering statewide energy use with Home Performance with 
ENERGY STAR®. The Home Performance market was spurred largely through our 
efforts. 


• Redesign update: We are still learning and applying outcomes from the redesign in 
2008. One is process improvements. We’ve trained 26 staff on this “mapping” method, 
intended to gain process efficiencies. We have completed improvements in customer 
experience, check imports and annual reporting. Time and money are both saved when 
these process improvements are implemented. IT and CCS continue to work on data 
quality improvements as well. 


• Margie described energy efficiency upgrades made at multifamily properties managed 
by NFN Investments. 


 
Julie B: Do you engage your executive board with any of the governor meetings related to the 
10-year energy plans? 
Margie: There are times where we could do more of that. The taskforce membership was 
chosen by the governor. As far as the deep dive, that can be a venue where board members 
can be involved.  
 
Julie: For the taskforce, how did you develop your platform? 
Margie: Each group was given a charter and participated in a group process. I shared some of 
the challenges and opportunities to staff and solicited their input. There will be a public process 
to comment on the draft plan expected in the next month or so. 
 
Adjourn 
 
The meeting adjourned at 3:15 p.m.  
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held 
Wednesday, March 28, 2012, 12:00 p.m. at Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 421 SW Oak Street, 
3rd Floor, Portland, Oregon  
 
 
 
 
 
    _______________________________________ 
      Rick Applegate, Secretary 
 








 


 
 
 
112th Board Meeting  
Wednesday, March 28, 2012, 12:00 p.m. – 2:30 p.m. 
421 SW Oak Street, Suite 300 
Portland, Oregon 
 
 
AGENDA   TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 p.m. Call to Order (Debbie Kitchin)  


• Approve agenda   
 
12:10 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 
 
12:15 p.m. Consent Agenda. The consent agenda may be approved  1 Action 
 by a single motion, second and vote of the board. Any item 
 on the consent agenda will be moved to the regular agenda 
 upon the request from any member of the board.  


• March 7 minutes  
 
12:30 p.m. Audit Committee (Ken Canon) 2 


• Review results of financial audit Perkins & Co.  Information 
• Acceptance of audited financial report for period 


ending 12/31/11 (Resolution 625)  Action 
 
1:30 p.m. Energy Programs (Jason Eisdorfer) 3  


• Transfer funds to Solar Electric Program Budget  Action 
(Resolution 626) 
 


2:00 p.m. Committee Reports  
• Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin)  Information 
• Finance Committee (Dan Enloe)        4 Information 


 
2:30 p.m. Adjourn 


 
The next meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held 


Wednesday, May 23, 12:00 noon at Energy Trust of Oregon,  
421 SW Oak Street, Suite 300, Portland 







Agenda  March 28, 2012 


   2


 
 
 
INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
 
Tab 1 Consent Agenda 


• March7 meeting minutes  
 
Tab 2 Audit Committee 


• Review results of financial audit Perkins & Co.   
• Acceptance of audited financial report for period 
   ending 12/31/11 (R625)   


 
Tab 3 Energy Programs 


• Transfer funds to Solar Electric Program Budget (R626) 
 
Tab 4 Finance Committees 


• Finance Committee notes March 19 
• Financial Glossary 


 
Tab 5 Staff Report 


•  Quarterly Market Indicators report 
 


 








For the
Fina


e Years Ende
With Indep


 
ancial Statem
ed Decembe


pendent Aud


ments 
er 31, 2011 a
ditors’ Repor


 


and 2010 
rt 


DRAFT







ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010 


CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 
 
  Page 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 1 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
 
 Statements of Financial Position 2 
 
 Statements of Activities 3 
 
 Statements of Functional Expenses 4-5 
 
 Statements of Cash Flows 6 
 
 Notes to Financial Statements 7-13 
 
 


DRAFT







INDEPEN
 
 
 
The Board
Energy Tr
 
We have 
Organizat
expenses 
Organizat
based on o
 
We condu
America. 
about whe
of interna
the circum
Organizat
audit also
financial 
managem
audits pro
 
In our op
financial p
its net as
generally 
 
 
 
DATE 


NDENT AUD


d of Directors
rust of Orego


audited the a
tion) as of D
and cash flow
tion’s manage
our audits. 


ucted our aud
 Those stand


ether the finan
al control over
mstances, bu
tion’s interna
o includes ex


statements, 
ment, as well 
ovide a reason


pinion, the fi
position of En
ssets and its 
accepted in th


DITORS’ RE


s 
n, Inc. 


accompanying
December 31,
ws for the yea
ement.  Our 


dits in accorda
dards require
ncial stateme
r financial rep
ut not for th
l control ove
amining, on 
assessing th
as evaluating


nable basis for


inancial state
nergy Trust o
cash flows 


he United Sta


EPORT 


g statements o
 2011 and 2


ars then ended
responsibility


ance with aud
 that we plan


ents are free o
porting as a b
he purpose o
r financial re
a test basis, 


he accounting
g the overall
r our opinion


ments referre
of Oregon, Inc
for the years
ates of Ameri


-1- 


of financial p
010, and the
d.  These fina
y is to expre


diting standard
n and perform
of material mi
asis for desig
of expressing
eporting.  Acc
evidence sup
g principles 
l financial sta
. 


ed to above 
c. as of Dece
s then ended
ca. 


position of En
e related state
ancial stateme
ess an opinion


ds generally a
m the audits 
isstatement.  A
gning audit pr
g an opinion
cordingly, we
pporting the a


used and s
atement pres


present fairly
mber 31, 201


d in conform


nergy Trust o
ements of ac
ents are the re
n on these fi


accepted in th
to obtain rea
An audit incl
rocedures that
n on the eff
e express no 
amounts and 
significant es
entation.  W


y, in all mat
11 and 2010, 


mity with acc


f Oregon, Inc
ctivities, func
esponsibility 
inancial statem


he United Sta
asonable assu
ludes conside
t are appropri
fectiveness o
such opinion
disclosures i


stimates mad
We believe tha


terial respect
and the chang


counting prin


c. (the 
ctional 
of the 
ments 


ates of 
urance 
ration 
iate in 
of the 
n.  An 
in the 
de by 
at our 


ts, the 
ges in 


nciples 


 


DRAFT







 


See notes to financial statements. 
 


-2- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 


DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010 
 
 


 


2011 2010


ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 73,128,210$    67,600,402$    
Investments -                       8,042,156        
Other receivables 1,150               11,754             
Accrued interest receivable 6,449               60,418             
Advances paid to contractor 2,438,724        1,684,682        
Prepaid expenses 293,702           420,341           
Property and equipment 1,825,317        630,998           
Other assets 363,797           261,677           
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 938,756           1,436,544        


Total assets 78,996,105$   80,148,972$    


 
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
 
LIABILITIES:


Accounts payable and accrued expenses 23,516,554$    18,380,518$    
Accrued payroll and related expenses 783,245           678,522           
Deferred rent liability 31,090             57,397             


Total liabilities 24,330,889      19,116,437      


COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
NET ASSETS:


Unrestricted:
Board-designated for specific purposes 938,755           1,436,544        
Available for programs and general operations 53,726,461      59,595,991      


Total net assets 54,665,216      61,032,535      
 78,996,105$   80,148,972$    DRAFT







 


See notes to financial statements. 
 


-3- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES 


YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010 
 
 


 


 2011 2010


UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
 
FUNDING:


Public purpose funding 83,949,690$    83,905,492$    
Incremental funding 49,125,617      41,023,323      
Interest income 194,050           417,905           
Other income 9,833               2,036               


Total funding 133,279,190    125,348,756    
 
EXPENSES:


Program expenses:
Energy efficiency 117,611,077    99,656,643      
Renewable resources 18,027,843      19,145,850      


Total program expenses 135,638,920    118,802,493    
 


Administrative expenses: 
Management and general 2,517,463        2,466,500        
Communication and outreach - general 1,490,126        1,675,991        


Total administrative expenses 4,007,589        4,142,491        
Total expenses 139,646,509    122,944,984    


INCREASE (DECREASE) IN UNRESTRICTED
NET ASSETS (6,367,319)       2,403,772        


NET ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 61,032,535      58,628,763      
 
NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR 54,665,216$   61,032,535$    DRAFT







 
 


See notes to financial statements. 
 


-4- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 


YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 
 
 


 


 Total Communication Total
 Energy Renewable Program Management and Outreach - Administrative Total
 Efficiency Resources Expenses and General General Expenses Expenses
 
EXPENSES:


Incentives and program management 108,523,826$  15,989,466$    124,513,292$  -$                     -$                     -$                     124,513,292$  
Payroll and related expenses 1,984,494        875,919           2,860,413        1,639,295        497,380           2,136,675        4,997,088        
Outsourced services 2,822,941        423,869           3,246,810        203,212           701,009           904,221           4,151,031        
Planning and evaluation 1,480,553        220,276           1,700,829        -                       21,586             21,586             1,722,415        
Customer service management 737,181           29,890             767,071           -                       -                       -                       767,071           
Trade Allies Network 381,181           26,064             407,245           -                       -                       -                       407,245           
Supplies 6,869               3,098               9,967               8,998               2,390               11,388             21,355             
Postage and shipping 6,644               1,421               8,065               2,368               1,880               4,248               12,313             
Telephone 7,904               4,440               12,344             5,864               1,764               7,628               19,972             
Printing and publications 55,537             10,277             65,814             5,420               12,974             18,394             84,208             
Occupancy expenses 128,993           56,519             185,512           94,157             37,036             131,193           316,705           
Insurance 23,941             10,490             34,431             17,476             6,874               24,350             58,781             
Equipment 13,083             69,588             82,671             9,550               3,756               13,306             95,977             
Travel 28,259             25,832             54,091             18,603             3,557               22,160             76,251             
Meetings, trainings and conferences 16,218             10,261             26,479             58,574             3,420               61,994             88,473             
Bank fees -                       -                       -                       5,000               -                       5,000               5,000               
Depreciation and amortization 11,565             16,376             27,941             8,441               3,320               11,761             39,702             
Dues, licenses and fees 44,014             20,735             64,749             62,385             1,777               64,162             128,911           
Miscellaneous 6,288               3                      6,291               151                  1,310               1,461               7,752               
IT services 1,331,586        233,319           1,564,905        377,969           190,093           568,062           2,132,967        


 
Total expenses 117,611,077$  18,027,843$   135,638,920$ 2,517,463$      1,490,126$     4,007,589$     139,646,509$ 


DRAFT







 
 


See notes to financial statements. 
 


-5- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 


YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 


 


 Total Communication Total
 Energy Renewable Program Management and Outreach - Administrative Total
 Efficiency Resources Expenses and General General Expenses Expenses
 
EXPENSES:


Incentives and program management 89,777,278$    16,722,137$    106,499,415$  -$                     -$                     -$                     106,499,415$  
Payroll and related expenses 1,616,129        864,356           2,480,485        1,587,705        461,250           2,048,955        4,529,440        
Outsourced services 4,079,902        816,498           4,896,400        245,581           974,296           1,219,877        6,116,277        
Planning and evaluation 1,361,118        202,493           1,563,611        28,211             19,767             47,978             1,611,589        
Customer service management 780,434           77,837             858,271           -                       -                       -                       858,271           
Trade Allies Network 333,311           34,339             367,650           -                       -                       -                       367,650           
Supplies 10,153             4,798               14,951             8,597               3,449               12,046             26,997             
Postage and shipping 2,915               1,416               4,331               3,040               890                  3,930               8,261               
Telephone 4,178               2,211               6,389               3,309               892                  4,201               10,590             
Printing and publications 54,568             12,000             66,568             4,351               14,820             19,171             85,739             
Occupancy expenses 103,298           50,188             153,486           78,813             31,554             110,367           263,853           
Insurance 19,818             9,629               29,447             15,120             6,054               21,174             50,621             
Equipment 3,010               45,743             48,753             2,297               2,694               4,991               53,744             
Travel 31,638             25,939             57,577             24,513             1,041               25,554             83,131             
Meetings, trainings and conferences 21,641             12,206             33,847             80,313             3,257               83,570             117,417           
Bank fees -                       -                       -                       5,000               -                       5,000               5,000               
Depreciation and amortization 4,553               20,250             24,803             3,474               1,391               4,865               29,668             
Dues, licenses and fees 62,690             30,689             93,379             9,670               5,262               14,932             108,311           
Miscellaneous 13,353             6,625               19,978             178                  34                    212                  20,190             
IT services 1,376,656        206,496           1,583,152        366,328           149,340           515,668           2,098,820        


 
Total expenses 99,656,643$   19,145,850$   118,802,493$ 2,466,500$      1,675,991$     4,142,491$     122,944,984$ 


DRAFT







 


See notes to financial statements. 
 


-6- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 


YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010 
 
 


 


 2011 2010


CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received in public purpose funding 83,949,690$    84,682,862$    
Cash received in incremental funding 49,125,617      41,023,323      
Cash received from other sources 9,835               75,215             
Interest received 248,019           359,958           
Cash paid to contractors, suppliers, and employees (134,988,306)   (117,178,756)   


Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities (1,655,145)       8,962,602        


 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:


Acquisition of investments -                       (10,050,118)     
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 5,805               -                       
Proceeds from sale of investments 8,042,155        2,007,962        
Acquisition of property and equipment (1,362,795)       (477,266)          
Decrease in restricted cash and cash equivalents 497,788           4,097,427        


Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities 7,182,953        (4,421,995)       


 
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5,527,808        4,540,607        
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 


BEGINNING OF YEAR 67,600,402      63,059,795      
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT


END OF YEAR 73,128,210$   67,600,402$    


 
RECONCILIATION OF INCREASE (DECREASE) IN


NET ASSETS TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Increase (decrease) in net assets (6,367,319)$     2,403,772$      
Adjustments to reconcile increase (decrease) in net assets 


to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: 
Depreciation 129,806           117,064           
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 18,255             -                       
Property and equipment disposed as incentive expense 14,610             -                       
Net changes in: 


Other receivables 10,604             92,712             
Accrued interest receivable 53,970             (57,947)            
Advances paid to contractor (754,042)          (1,645,617)       
Prepaid expenses 126,639           (237,400)          
Other assets (102,120)          (91,227)            
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 5,136,036        8,288,154        
Accrued payroll and related expenses 104,723           140,604           
Deferred rent liability (26,307)            (47,513)            


 4,712,174        6,558,830        
Net cash provided by (used in) operating


activities (1,655,145)$    8,962,602$      


DRAFT







 


-7- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010 
 
 


NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION 
 
Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (Energy Trust), a nonprofit 501(c)(3) organization (the Organization), began 
collecting public purpose revenues in March 2002.  By the terms of its grant agreement with the Oregon 
Public Utility Commission (OPUC), it is charged with investing in cost-effective energy conservation, 
funding above-market costs of renewable energy resources, and encouraging energy efficiency market 
transformation efforts in Oregon. 
 
Energy Trust funds come from a 1999 energy restructuring law, which required Oregon’s two largest 
investor-owned utilities to collect a three percent “public purposes” charge from their customers.  A 
portion of that charge is transferred to Energy Trust, and the remainder is dedicated to energy 
conservation efforts in low-income housing and K-12 schools, as well as low-income housing 
improvements.  The sunset date for collection of the public purpose charge is 2026. 
 
The law authorized the OPUC to direct a majority of these public purpose funds to a non-governmental 
entity for investment.  Energy Trust was created for this sole purpose.  In November 2001, Energy Trust 
entered into a grant agreement with the OPUC to guide Energy Trust’s electric energy work.  The grant 
agreement was developed with extensive input from key stakeholders and interested parties, and it has 
been amended several times since 2001.  The agreement is reviewed annually by the OPUC and is 
automatically extended annually for an additional three years unless Energy Trust or the OPUC give 
notice otherwise. 
 
In 2007, the Oregon Senate passed Bill 838 (OSB 838), which allowed electric utilities to request an 
increase in rates to pursue additional energy conservation opportunities.  In 2008, PacifiCorp and Portland 
General Electric elected to send funds related to OSB 838 to Energy Trust to pursue energy conservation 
opportunities for retail electricity purchasers of less than one average megawatt.   This precludes Energy 
Trust from providing services with this funding to some larger commercial and industrial customers.  
These funds are reported separately in the statement of activities as “incremental funding.”  The funds 
received from PacifiCorp and Portland General Electric may be used for conservation efforts in addition 
to activity funded by the public purpose funds. 
 
In addition to its work under the 1999 energy restructuring law, Energy Trust administers natural gas 
conservation programs for residential and commercial customers of NW Natural.  Under the terms of the 
2003 agreement with the OPUC, NW Natural collects and transfers to Energy Trust a surcharge of the 
total monthly amount billed to non-industrial customers.  Energy Trust uses these funds for energy 
efficiency efforts to benefit NW Natural’s Oregon residential and commercial customers. 
 
In 2009, Energy Trust began administering energy efficiency programs for qualified industrial customers 
of NW Natural.   
 
In 2009, Energy Trust entered into a Washington Customer’s Public Purpose Funds Transfer Agreement 
with NW Natural.  Under the terms of the agreement, NW Natural agrees to transfer funds (Washington 
Funds) and customer information to Energy Trust to design and administer cost-effective energy 
efficiency programs for existing homes and businesses to NW Natural customers in Washington.  In 
2010, the agreement was amended to include similar programs for builders constructing new homes in 
NW Natural’s Washington service territory.  The agreement expires on December 31, 2012, unless 
extended by the two parties. 
 


DRAFT







 


-8- 


In 2006, Energy Trust began administering natural gas conservation programs for residential and 
commercial customers of Cascade Natural Gas Corporation (Cascade) under public purpose agreements.  
Each agreement provides for a different methodology for determining the amount of funds to be provided 
to Energy Trust. 
 
 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Accounting - The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis of Presentation - Energy Trust is required to report information regarding its financial position and 
activities according to three classes of net assets under generally accepted accounting principles: 
unrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets and permanently restricted net assets.  Energy 
Trust had no temporarily restricted or permanently restricted net assets as of December 31, 2011 or 2010. 
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk - Energy Trust’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, money 
market instruments and certificates of deposit with maturities at acquisition of three months or less.  
These financial instruments may subject the Organization to concentrations of credit risk, as the market 
value of securities is dependent on the ability of the issuer to honor its contractual commitments.  All of 
its non-interest bearing cash balances were fully insured at December 31, 2011 and 2010 due to a 
temporary federal program in effect from December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2012.  Under the 
program, there is no limit to the amount of insurance for eligible accounts.  Beginning 2013, insurance 
coverage will revert to $250,000 per depositer at each financial institution, and the Organization’s non-
interest bearing cash balances may, again, exceed federally insured limits. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following at December 31: 
 


 2011  2010 
    
Cash $ 22,790,754  $ 30,467,131
Certificates of deposit  50,337,456   37,133,271
 $ 73,128,210  $ 67,600,402


 
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents - Energy Trust has money market instruments with a value of 
$938,756 and $1,436,544 reported as restricted cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2011 and 
2010, respectively.  These funds are held in escrow accounts for the benefit of program recipients, as 
contractually required and designated by the board of directors of Energy Trust. 
 
Investments - In 2010, investments consisted  primarily of certificates of deposit with maturities at 
acquisition of greater than three months.  Energy Trust regularly reviews its investments to determine 
whether a decline in fair value below the carrying value is other-than-temporary.  If a decline in fair value 
is considered other-than-temporary, the carrying amount of the security is written down and the amount of 
the write-down is included in results of operations. 
 


DRAFT







 


-9- 


Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which generally range 
from three to five years.  It is Energy Trust’s policy to capitalize property and equipment over $5,000.  
Lesser amounts are expensed. 
 
In 2011 and 2010, the Organization incurred costs for an internal-use software project.  Such costs have 
been either capitalized or expensed in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 350-40, 
Internal-Use Software.  The internal-use software asset has not been placed in service as of December 31, 
2011. 
 
Revenue Recognition - All funding is considered available for unrestricted use unless specifically 
restricted by the donor.  Public purpose and incremental funding are recognized when funds are received 
from the funding source.  Other income and interest income are recognized at the time services are 
provided and the revenues are earned. 
 
Expense Allocation - The costs of providing various programs and supporting services have been 
summarized on a functional basis in the statements of functional expenses.  Accordingly, certain costs 
have been allocated among the programs and supporting services benefited. 
 
Advertising - Energy Trust expenses advertising costs as incurred.  Advertising costs include activities to 
create or stimulate a desire to use Energy Trust’s services that are provided without charge.  Advertising 
expense amounted to $1,066,876 and $1,348,220 for 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
 
Income Taxes - Energy Trust is exempt from federal and state income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code and comparable state law. 
 
Generally, the Organization is subject to examination by federal, state and local income tax authorities for 
three years from the filing of a tax return.  With few exceptions, the Organization is no longer subject to 
such examinations for years ended before December 31, 2008. 
 
Renewable Energy Certificates - In the process of funding above-market costs of renewable energy 
resources, Energy Trust negotiates the contractual ownership of Renewable Energy Certificates (REC) 
with funding recipients.  A single REC represents one megawatt-hour of generation of qualifying 
electricity from eligible resources including, among others, solar, wind, and biomass.  Energy Trust’s 
RECs represent an intangible asset, as defined in ASC 350-30, General Intangibles Other Than Goodwill.  
In 2010, the Organization assigned value to its RECs based on their estimated fair value at acquisition 
using the guidance in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.  The fair values of RECs 
contractually held by the Organization at December 31, 2010, are not considered material to the financial 
statements and, therefore, no intangible asset has been recorded in the statements of financial position. In 
2011, the Organization amended policy 4.15.000-P to remove provisions allowing the sale of RECs, as a 
result all current and future RECs will have a fair value of $0 at December 31, 2011.  
 
Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires that management make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Reclassifications - Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2010 financial statements in order to 
conform to the 2011 presentation. 
 


DRAFT







 


-10- 


NOTE 3 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31: 
 


 2011  2010 
    
Computer equipment and software $ 974,712  $ 976,859
Leasehold improvements  309,767   22,382
Office equipment and furniture  627,017   138,156
Program equipment at service sites  63,213   87,564
  1,974,709   1,224,961
Less accumulated depreciation  1,049,110   991,466
  925,599   233,495
Internal-use software asset in process  899,718   397,503
 $ 1,825,317  $ 630,998


 
 
NOTE 4 - LINES OF CREDIT 
 
Energy Trust maintains a line of credit agreement with Umpqua Bank.  Under the agreement, Energy 
Trust has available an unsecured line of credit in the amount of $4,000,000.  The interest rate is based on 
the Umpqua Bank prime rate less 0.5% (2.75% at December 31, 2011).  The line matures on September 5, 
2012.  As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, no borrowings were outstanding under the line of credit. 
 
Energy Trust maintained a line of credit agreement with Bank of the Cascades.  Under the agreement, 
Energy Trust had available an unsecured line of credit in the amount of $4,000,000.  The interest rate was 
based on the Bank of the Cascades prime rate less 0.5% (2.75% at December 31, 2010).  On January 12, 
2011, Energy Trust terminated the line of credit agreement with Bank of the Cascades.  As of December 
31, 2010, no borrowings were outstanding under the line of credit.   
 
 
NOTE 5 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the statements of financial position are categorized based 
upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value.  Level inputs, as 
defined by ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, are as follows: 
 
Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 
 
Level 2: Observable inputs other than those included in Level 1.  For example, quoted market prices for 
similar assets or liabilities in active markets, or quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities in 
inactive markets. 
 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s own assumptions about the inputs used in pricing 
the asset or liability.  Level 3 assets and liabilities include investments whose value is determined using 
pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for 
which the determination of fair values requires significant management judgment or estimation. 
 


DRAFT







 


-11- 


Fair values of assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis are as follows: 
 


  Fair Value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 
December 31, 2011         
         
Certificate of deposit:         


In cash and cash equivalents  $ 50,337,456  $ -  $ 50,337,456  $ -
In investments   -   -   -   -
   50,337,456   -   50,337,456   -


Money market instruments:         
In restricted cash and cash 


equivalents 
 


 938,756   938,756   -   -
   938,756   938,756   -   -


Mutual funds:         
In other assets   301,336   301,336   -   -


Total at fair value  $ 51,577,548  $ 1,240,092  $ 50,337,456  $ -
 


December 31, 2010         
         
Certificate of deposit:         


In cash and cash equivalents  $ 37,133,271  $ -  $ 37,133,271  $ -
In investments   8,042,156   -   8,042,156   -
   45,175,427   -   45,175,427   -


Money market instruments:         
In restricted cash and cash 


equivalents 
 


 1,436,544   1,436,544   -   -
   1,436,544   1,436,544   -   -


Mutual funds:         
In other assets   233,677   233,677   -   -


Total at fair value  $ 46,845,648  $ 1,670,221  $ 45,175,427  $ -
 
The availability of observable inputs can vary from instrument to instrument and is affected by a variety 
of factors including the availability of published interest rates on similar assets.  The level of a fair value 
measurement within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety.  The categorization of a fair value measurement within the 
hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily correspond to 
the Organization’s perceived risk of that instrument. 
 
The Organization’s certificates of deposit trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but their 
fair values are based on dealer quotations supported by observable inputs and, therefore, are categorized 
in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  There were no changes in valuation techniques for certificates of 
deposit during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. 
 
 
 


DRAFT







 


-12- 


NOTE 6 - PUBLIC PURPOSE FUNDING AND INCREMENTAL FUNDING 
 
Public purpose funding and incremental funding received are as follows for the years ended December 
31: 
 


 2011  2010 
Public Purpose Funding    
    
Portland General Electric:    
 Energy efficiency $ 28,510,770  $ 27,065,764
 Renewable resources  8,131,761   7,697,460
  36,642,531   34,763,224
PacifiCorp:    
 Energy efficiency  18,772,015   16,254,154
 Renewable resources  5,327,155   4,497,978
  24,099,170   20,752,132
Northwest Natural - Oregon:    
 Energy efficiency  20,718,176   25,957,440
    
Northwest Natural - Washington:    
 Energy efficiency  642,144   990,416
    
Cascade:    
 Energy efficiency  1,847,669   1,442,280


Total public purpose funding $ 83,949,690  $ 83,905,492
    


Incremental Funding    
    


Portland General Electric $ 27,757,336  $ 22,034,356
PacifiCorp  21,368,281   18,988,967


Total incremental funding $ 49,125,617  $ 41,023,323
 
 
NOTE 7 - OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 
Energy Trust leases its administrative offices under an operating lease agreement which expires in June 
2019.  Energy Trust also leases various office equipment under operating lease agreements.  At December 
31, 2011, the aggregate annual commitments under the terms of these leases are payable as follows: 
 
 Years ending December 31, 
 


2012   $ 369,212
2013    593,748
2014    649,306
2015    649,394
2016    670,068
Thereafter    1,838,488
   $ 4,770,216


 
Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $462,340 and $405,229, respectively. 
 


DRAFT







 


-13- 


NOTE 8 - RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
Energy Trust provides all employees with a qualified profit sharing retirement plan as prescribed under 
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.  Generally, employees who have completed at least three 
consecutive months of work may elect to make voluntary contributions to the plan on a pre-tax basis, up 
to the limits allowed by law.  Employees select from various investment options.  On a discretionary 
basis, as determined annually by the board of directors, Energy Trust may make contributions to the plan.  
For each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, Energy Trust contributed to the plan an amount 
equal to 6% of the compensation earned by each eligible employee during the period.  Employees are 
immediately vested in all contributions to the plan.  Retirement plan expense recorded by Energy Trust 
was $341,513 and $293,704 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.   
 
 
NOTE 9 - CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS 
 
Energy Trust enters into contract commitments for various energy efficiency and renewable resource 
programs.  As of December 31, 2011, the Organization expects to pay approximately $38 million in 
future periods under these commitments.  Expenditures for these commitments are recorded in the period 
in which they are incurred. 
 
Energy Trust had projects and incentive payment requests in progress that did not meet its recognition 
criteria at both December 31, 2011 and 2010.  The amounts are unquantifiable and, as such, not disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
 
NOTE 10 - BOARD-DESIGNATED NET ASSETS 
 
Due to the long-term nature of certain renewable energy projects, the board of directors of Energy Trust 
has authorized amounts to be segregated into escrow accounts to be used for larger long-term projects.  
The funds held in escrow accounts are to be paid out under criteria specific to each project.  In the 
financial statements, these funds are considered designated for those specific projects. 
 
 
NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
We have evaluated subsequent events through __________________, the date that these financial 
statements were available to be issued. 
 


DRAFT












Finance Committee Notes 
March 19, 2012 


The Finance Committee met at 3:00 pm on March 19th, via teleconference with Dan Enloe, 
Finance Committee chair; Debbie Kitchin, Board Vice Chair; John Reynolds, Board Chair; 
Margie Harris, Executive Director; and Sue Sample, CFO attending. Also attending were Peter 
West, Director of Energy Programs and Kacia Brockman, Senior Program Manager.  
 
Review December 31, 2011 Draft Audited Financial Statements 
The committee reviewed an early draft of the audited financial statements via email. Dan posed 
a couple of questions about how information was portrayed in the report, which were clarified. 
No further questions were raised. The official presentation by the auditors will be made to the 
Audit Committee at their next meeting on March 28th. 
 
Consider Proposal for Use of Interest Income and Budget Reallocation for Solar Program 
The committee reviewed and discussed the briefing paper sent to them describing a request 
from the Solar Program to reallocate budget from the Other Renewables Program in PGE 
service territory. The request included a recommendation to utilize interest income in both PGE 
and PacifiCorp service territories to fund unanticipated demand in the Solar Program in 2012. 
Even with the planned strategic reduction of incentives taking place in 2012, the demand 
exceeds what was anticipated at the time of budget preparation. Kacia and Peter described the 
circumstances leading to the anticipated shortfall. To meet the excess demand, while 
maintaining momentum and stability in the market, additional funds are required while the 
program transitions to a more stable level of activity supportable by future incentive budgets.  
 
The specific request made was: 


• PGE-–transfer $650,000 from Other Renewables program; funds available 
through cancellation of a small wind project and a small municipal hydro project 


• PGE-– transfer of $585,000 from interest reserves 
• PacfiCorp—transfer of $535,000 from interest reserves 


 
The committee then discussed the merits of using reserves for such “emergencies”. This is 
historical precedence; issues such as this have been placed before the board several times in 
both the efficiency and renewables programs where demand has exceeded available resources. 
In efficiency programs, through the SB 838 mechanism, the funds can be repaid; that avenue is 
not available for renewables. The allocation of $1,120,000 from interest reserves will not bring 
the reserve balance significantly below that required by the Board as a cushion against revenue 
variations. In order to maintain the flexibility to act in these kinds of circumstances, interest 
income is not attributed to the utilities or programs from which it was derived; however, the 
excess carryover in the early years of the renewables program did lead to the build-up of the 
reserve account.  
 
The committee satisfied itself that this transfer was appropriate under the circumstances.  
 
Change in Meeting Dates 
The date of the next Finance Committee meeting has been changed from May 7th to May 14th 
with the purpose to review the first quarter 2012 financial statements. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 3:25 pm. 








 
 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated March 19, 2011 
 
Administrative Costs 
Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, have general objectives which enable an 
organization’s programs to function.  The organization’s programs in turn provide direct services 
to the organization’s constituents and fulfill the mission of the organization.  
i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach expenses 
 


I. Management and General  
• Includes governance/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, 


payroll, human resources, general legal support, and other general 
organizational management costs. 


• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the 
organization and general public awareness.  


• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based 


upon an allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the 
pool.  


• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for 
accounting efficiency purposes. 


• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer 
management (call center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, 
complaint tracking, etc). The accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that 
benefited by using the ratio of calls into the call center by program (i.e. the allocation 
base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits and taxes. 
• Office operations.  Includes rent, telephone, utilities, supplies, etc.  
• Information Technology (IT) services. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for gas utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the 


board of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, 
and certifying that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting 
principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding 
specific items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified 
opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements 
present an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s 
financial records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a 
qualified opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in 


their annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a 


designated category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward 
for expenditure to the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied 
against the cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked 


by program. 
 


Commitments 
• Represents funds obligated to identified efficiency program participants in the form of 


signed applications or agreements and tracked in the project forecasting system. 
• If the project is not demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed 


funds return to incentive pool. Reapplication would then be required. 
• Funds are expensed when the project is completed. 
• Funds may be held in the operating cash account, or in escrow accounts. 


 
Contract obligations  


• A signed contract for goods or services that creates a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Contract Status Summary Report. 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from 


both a utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and 


societal cost of energy.  







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


3 


• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program 
costs plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 


 
Dedicated Funds 


• Represents funds obligated to identified renewable program participants in the form of 
signed applications or agreements and tracked in the project forecasting system.  


• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 
• Methodology utilized to develop renewable energy activity-based budgets amounts. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual 
program/project; or can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, 
cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total 


program funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining 


program funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a 


cost pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate bank account that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned 
to Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still 
“owned” by Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred 
out of the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the 
income statement for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have 
been received or earned within the month or year.  
 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


4 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive 
payments, with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy 
savings, incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or 
application has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be 
documented by programs using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has 
received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that 
have reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive 
dollars until project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion 
date by project and by service territory must be documented in project records and in 
FastTrack. If project not demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, 
committed funds return to incentive pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Dedicated-Renewable project that has been committed, has a signed agreement, and if 
required, has been approved by the board of directors.  


 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for 


payment for utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy 
efficiency and renewable energy measures in the homes or apartments of such 
residential customers. 
 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as 


defined above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable 
energy measure. 


• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 
 


III. Service Incentives 
• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the 


final cost to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or 
renewable energy measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home 
reviews and technical analysis studies. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency 
practices proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or 
high efficiency lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of 


services and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC 
diagnosis, air filtration, etc. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


5 


Indirect Costs 
• Shared costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning 


individual charges to programs.  
• Allocated to all programs and administration functions based on a standard basis such 


as hours worked, square footage, customer phone calls, etc. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and 


depreciation. 
 
IT Support Services  


• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking 


support of PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Includes technical architecture design and physical infrastructure. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units. 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Expenditures made to fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists 


and are authorized through the program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, 


quality assurance, program-specific marketing and other costs incurred solely for 
program purposes. 


• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 
 


Program Delivery Expense  
• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, 


program coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program 
delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management 


contractors under contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer 


maintenance and general renewable energy consulting. 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a 


program-specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff 


management, etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


6 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual 


programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit 


to the public. 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a 


particular program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support 


costs. 
 Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
 Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following 


categories:  supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; 
occupancy expenses; insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; 
conferences and training; depreciation and amortization; dues, licenses, 
subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll & related expense; 
outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology department 
cost. 


 
Project Specific Costs (for Renewable Energy) 


• Expenses directly related to identified projects or identified customers to assist them in 
constructing or operating renewable projects.  Includes services to prospective as well 
as current customers.   


• Must involve direct contact with the project or customer, individually or in groups, and 
provide a service the customer would otherwise incur at their own expense.   


• Does not include general program costs to reach a broad (unidentified) audience such 
as websites, advertising, program development, or program management.  


• Project-Specific costs may be in the categories of; Incentives, Staff salaries, Program 
delivery, Legal services, Public relations, Creative services, Professional services, 
Travel, Business meetings, Telephone, or Escrow account bank fees. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data 
entry by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on 
deemed savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for 
custom measures.  They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and 
distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used 
for public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution 
factors, evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working 
values. These values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during 
the “true-up” as a result of new information or identified errors. 
  







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


7 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings 
at the time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to 
arrive at this number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is 
agreed to at the beginning of the contract year and is applied to all program measures. 
 This is based on the sum of the adjustments between working and reportable numbers 
in the forecast developed for the program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more 
accurate savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These 
factors are determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. 
The factors are determined based on the best available information from: 


 Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over 
effects and measure impacts to date; and  


 Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from 
electric measure savings.  


 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations, levelized cost calculations and in 
management reports used to track funds spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration 
costs to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of 


administration (management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for 


nonprofits, administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade 
ally network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies 
associated with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as 
call center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center 
per month. 


  







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


8 


True Up 
• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how 


much energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic 
performance and our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data 
factor), anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of 
similar programs have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual 
evaluations of the program and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up 
Report (for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 
years, especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the 
savings are updated through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








 
 
Briefing Paper 
Market Indicators Quarterly Report 
March 9th, 2012 


The purpose of this report is to track and assess changes in key economic indicators in 
an attempt to gain a better understanding of how demand for Energy Trust programs will 
respond to changing market dynamics.  By monitoring the behavior of several widely 
used macro-level indicators we hope to stay closely attuned to any signs of improvement 
or further worsening of economic conditions, thereby providing Energy Trust program 
managers with the ability to respond to changes accordingly.    


Economic recovery has been painfully slow over the last 2.5 years, which has 
unfortunately left the US economy more vulnerable to shocks than it would have been 
under a more robust recovery.  In recent months, however, “indicators of spending, 
production, and job market activity have shown some signs of improvement; and, in 
economic projections just released, Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) 
participants indicated that they expect somewhat stronger growth this year than in 
2011.1”  
 
The number of vacant homes is about 40% higher than normal (1.75 million compared to 
only 1.25 million during most of the 2000’s).  Additionally, the high number of foreclosed 
homes on the housing market essentially ‘crowds out’ the need for new homes in the 
market.  Due to tight credit conditions, job market uncertainty, and high unemployment, 
the ability and desire for consumers to commit to homeownership is much weaker than it 
has been in the past. Rental vacancies however have declined and construction of 
apartment buildings has picked up.  Globally, economic activity appears to be 
stagnating, restrained in part by spillover effects from financial developments in Europe2. 


The health of the job market also remains as an issue, as noted recently by Ben 
Bernanke in his recent address to the U.S. House of Representatives titled The 
Economic Outlook and The Federal Budget Situation; 


 “Though some progress has been made in reversing the losses in jobs and 
income sustained during the recession, the pace of expansion has been 
frustratingly slow and the unemployment rate remains very high by historical 
standards….more than 40 percent of the unemployed have been jobless for 
more than six months, roughly double the fraction during the economic 
expansion of the previous decade.”  
 Federal Reserve Chairman Ben Bernanke, The Economic Outlook and the 
Federal Budget Situation, before the U.S. House of Representatives, Washington D.C. 
2/2/2012 


 


                                                 
1 Federal Reserve Chairman, Ben Bernanke, The Economic Outlook and the Federal Budget Situation, 
2/10/2012 


2 http://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/testimony/bernanke20120202a.htm  
 







Briefing Paper   


 


 
Page 2 of 10 


1.1 Energy Trust Programmatic Indicators 


 


 


 


Seasonal interest in Energy Trust programs partially explains the observed increase in 
incentive application volume during the 4th quarter of 2011, while the processing of 600 
Clean Energy Works Oregon incentive applications explains the remainder.  The 
anomalous data spike in August for incentive applications is a feature of PGE’s summer 
marketing blitz, and a corresponding rise in call volume during June is also observed in 
connection with that PGE marketing effort.  


 


 


0


100


200


300


400


500


600


700


800


0


1000


2000


3000


4000


5000


6000


7000


8000


9000


Jan  Mar May July Sep Nov Jan  Mar May July Sep Nov


2010 2011


O
nl
in
e 
H
ER


 R
eq


ue
st
s


Ca
ll 
Vo


lu
m
e


Energy Trust Contact Center Volume


Total Calls


Total 
Online HER 
Requests


0


500


1000


1500


2000


2500


3000


Ja
n 


Fe
b


M
ar


A
pr


M
ay Ju
n


Ju
ly


A
ug Se
p


O
ct


N
ov D
ec


Ja
n 


Fe
b


M
ar


A
pr


M
ay Ju
n


Ju
ly


A
ug Se
p


O
ct


N
ov D
ec


2010 2011


Incentive Applications







Briefing Paper   


 


 
Page 3 of 10 


2.1 Macroeconomic Indicators 


Unemployment-  


 


The employment situation has generally improved for both Oregon and the nation as a 
whole since the last Market Indicators Report was released in November 2011.  The 
unemployment rate in Oregon decreased from 9 percent to 8.8 percent in January; its 
lowest level since late 2008 but still higher than the national rate.  Average annual 
unemployment rates fell for 48 states during 2011, including Oregon, which posted a 
1.2% average annual decrease. 


Oregon Local Area Unemployment- 


 


Within the state, unemployment rates remain relatively high in the usual problem areas, 
including the Bend-Central Oregon region, where the recessionary housing market and 
price contraction of 2008-2009 was felt most strongly by local economies.  


8.3


8.8


8.2500 


8.7500 


9.2500 


9.7500 


10.2500 


10.7500 


A
ug Se
p


O
ct


N
ov D
ec Ja
n


Fe
b


M
ar


A
pr


M
ay Ju
n


Ju
ly


A
ug Se
p


O
ct


N
ov D
ec Ja
n


Fe
b


2010 2011 2012


Se
as
on


al
ly
 A
dj
us
te
d 
U
ne


m
pl
oy
m
en


t 
Ra


te


National and State Unemployment


US


Oregon


4.5 
5.5 
6.5 
7.5 
8.5 
9.5 


10.5 
11.5 
12.5 
13.5 
14.5 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec


2011


U
ne


m
pl
oy
m
en


t R
at
e,
 (S
A
)


Oregon Local Area Unemployment


Bend


Corvallis


Eugene‐Springfield


Medford


Portland Area


Salem







Briefing Paper   


 


 
Page 4 of 10 


 
 
New Homes Report-  


 


The number of building permits issued in a given period is commonly used as a proxy for 
housing starts, with the understanding that housing starts are a strict subset of total 
building permits issued.  During 2011, the number of multifamily building permits issued 
nationwide grew by 30 percent compared to 2010, while single family permits slumped, 
falling 7 percent year-over-year.  This national trend of strengthening rental markets and 
faltering single-family home sales was even stronger in the State of Oregon last year, 
where a 77 percent increase in multifamily building starts, and a 10 percent decline in 
single-family housing starts was recorded.  


The number of Single Family building permits issued throughout the country in January 
of 2012 was 14 percent higher than a year earlier, and the total number of multifamily 
building permits was 69 percent higher for the nation, year-over-year.   


“Nationally, house prices have plunged about 30 percent in nominal terms from 
their peak and nearly 40 percent in real, or inflation-adjusted, terms. The 
imbalance of supply and demand has also been reflected in the decline in home 
construction… Since 2009, the pace of single-family housing starts has averaged 
less than 500,000 units per year. During the 15 years before the financial crisis, 
the pace of single-family starts had never fallen below 1 million units per year.” 
        Ben Bernanke, at the 2012 National Association of Homebuilders International 
Builders' Show, Orlando, Florida 


        
 


 


 


 


0.25


0.3


0.35


0.4


0.45


0.5


0.55


0.6


20


25


30


35


40


45


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan


2011 2012


O
re
go
n 
Bu


ild
in
g 
Pe
rm


its
, S
F


U
S 
Bu


ild
in
g 
Pe
rm


its
, S
F


Single Family Building Permits


US


Oregon







Briefing Paper   


 


 
Page 5 of 10 


Local Area Housing Starts-  


 


Construction activity has rebounded slightly in some regions within the state, but overall 
activity is generally not expected to recover to pre-recession levels in the near term due 
to persistently volatile movement in construction market indicators.  


 


National Construction Expenditures- 


 


The rate of construction spending increased in January 2012 by 0.1 percent compared 
to the previous month, and by 7.1 percent compared to January 2011.  This year-over-
year increase in total construction spending was largely buoyed by private construction, 


0


0.01


0.02


0.03


0.04


0.05


0.06


0.07


0


0.05


0.1


0.15


0.2


0.25


0.3


0.35


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan


2011 2012


Bu
ild
in
g 
Pe
rm


its
, S
F


Po
rt
la
nd


 M
et
ro
 A
re
a 
Bu


ild
in
g 
Pe
rm


its
, S
F


Local Area Building Permits, Single Family


Portland 
Metro


Bend


Corvallis


Medford


Salem


250


270


290


310


330


350


370


390


410


430


750,000
760,000
770,000
780,000
790,000
800,000
810,000
820,000
830,000
840,000
850,000


Jan Mar May July Sept Nov Jan Mar May Jul Sep Nov Jan


2010 2011 2012


SF
 H
om


e 
Sa
le
s,
 T
ho


us
an
ds


Co
ns
tr
uc
tio


n,
 B
ill
io
n 
$U


SD


Single Family Home Sales and Construction Expenditures


US 
Construction 
Spending 


US Home 
Sales, SF







Briefing Paper   


 


 
Page 6 of 10 


which reported an 11.7 percent increase since January 2011.  Alternatively, public 
construction spending decreased by half of a percent over the same time period.   


Foreclosures- 


 


 


 


200 


220 


240 


260 


280 


300 


320 


340 


360 


380 


Jan MarMay Jul Sep Nov Jan MarMay Jul Sep Nov Jan MarMay Jul Sep Nov Jan


2009 2010 2011 2012


Th
ou


sa
nd


s


New Foreclosures, US


0


2000


4000


6000


8000


10000


12000


14000


Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan


2010 2011 2012


Oregon Foreclosure Statistics


Filings‐Notice 
of Sale


Inventories‐
Scheduled for 
Sale







Briefing Paper   


 


 
Page 7 of 10 


UO Index- 


 


The UO index increased again slightly in January 2012, following a 0.9 percent increase 
from November to December 2011 (Note: 1997=100).  Indicators which comprise the UO 
index were mixed in January, with good news coming from improved consumer 
sentiment and growth in residential building permits, but faltering in initial unemployment 
claims and employment services payrolls, both of which inhibited substantial positive 
movement in the index.  


 


Price Indices-  


 


84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93


Jun July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan


2010 2011 2012


University of Oregon Index of 
Leading Economic Indicators


175


185


195


205


215


225


235


245


255


265


M
ay Ju
n Ju
l


A
ug Se
p


O
ct


N
ov D
ec Ja
n


Fe
b


M
ar


A
pr


M
ay Ju
n Ju
l


A
ug Se
p


O
ct


N
ov D
ec Ja
n


2011 2012


Seasonally Adjusted Energy Indices


All Items


Energy


Gas & Elec.


Household 
Energy







Briefing Paper   


 


 
Page 8 of 10 


 


 


“As we had anticipated, overall consumer price inflation moderated considerably 
over the course of 2011. In the first half of the year, a surge in the prices of 
gasoline and food--along with some pass-through of these higher prices to other 
goods and services--had pushed consumer inflation higher. Around the same 
time, supply disruptions associated with the disaster in Japan put upward 
pressure on motor vehicle prices. As expected, however, the impetus from these 
influences faded in the second half of the year, leading inflation to decline from 
an annual rate of about 3-1/2 percent in the first half of 2011 to about 1-1/2 
percent in the second half--close to its average pace in the preceding two years. 
In an environment of well-anchored inflation expectations, more-stable 
commodity prices, and substantial slack in labor and product markets, we expect 
inflation to remain subdued.”  
 Ben Bernanke, The Economic Outlook and Federal Budget Situation, 
2/2/2012 


 


ISM Report on Business- 


“Manufacturing production has increased 15 percent since its trough, and capital spending 
by businesses has expanded briskly over the past two years, driven in part by the need to 
replace aging equipment and software. Moreover, many U.S. firms, notably in 
manufacturing but also in services, have benefited from strong demand from foreign 
markets over the past few years.”  –Ben Bernanke Economic Outlook and Monetary Policy 


Economic activity in the manufacturing sector expanded in February for the 31st 
consecutive month, and the overall economy grew for the 33rd consecutive month, say 
the nation's supply executives in the latest Manufacturing ISM Report On Business®. 


 


 


0.3


0.4


0.5


0.4


0.3


0.1


0.3 0.3 0.3


0


0.1


0


0.2


0


0.1


0.2


0.3


0.4


0.5


0.6


Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan


2011 2012


M
on


th
ly
 P
er
ce
nt
ag
e 
Ch


an
ge
 in
 th


e 
A
ll‐


It
em


s 
Pr
ic
e 
In
de


x


CPI‐U
(All Urban Consumers)







Briefing Paper   


 


 
Page 9 of 10 


Around the State- 


- Tilla-Bay Farm in Tillamook recently became the first dairy farm in the 
region to install robotic milkers. As a result, one employee was laid off. 
Headlight-Herald, 2/15/2012 
 


- PacifiCorp will begin construction on a 2-megawatt solar power project 
near Lakeview in May that should be producing electricity by October. 
Called the Black Cap project, the 21-acre site will have about 9,000 
modules. It is expected to generate electricity for about 400 residential 
customers. Herald and News, 3/1/2012 
 


- The Tillamook County Creamery Association is expanding its Columbia 
River Processing plant at the Port of Morrow in Boardman. The 40,000-
square-foot whey-drying and warehouse facility will create 17 jobs. 
Operations at the plant are expected to start in February 2013. East 
Oregonian, 2/23/2012 
 


- Bioanalytical Systems Inc., a pharmaceutical development and research 
company, plans to close its McMinnville laboratory and consolidate 
operations in Lafayette, Ind. It employs about 20 people. News-Register, 
3/5/2012 
 


- Navistar International Corp. plans to cease production of motorized RVs at 
its Monaco RV manufacturing facility in Coburg, resulting in a loss of 255 
jobs. Portland Business Journal, 3/6/2012 
 


- Mastercraft Furniture Inc. will relocate its Wilsonville furniture factory to 
Stayton this month. It employs about 150 people and plans to add 100 
more over the next two years. Statesman Journal, 3/2/2012 
 


- Portland Energy Conservation Inc. will lay off 15 percent of its 380-person 
workforce as stimulus funded energy projects come to an end. Portland 
Business Journal, 2/17/2012 
 


- Salem Hospital plans to make $30 million in cuts. Thirty jobs will be 
eliminated and 30 open positions will not be filled. Statesman Journal, 
2/23/2012 
 


- The Grant County Court approved the master plan for development of the 
Silvies Valley Ranch, a luxury guest ranch in the Silvies Valley, south of 
Seneca. So far, the ranch has hired 25 to 30 people. At full build-out, the 
guest ranch could include 575 units, with a target date for opening in 
2016. Blue Mountain Eagle, 2/15/2012 


 


 







Briefing Paper   


 


 
Page 10 of 10 


 








 


 


 


 


Board Decision 
Acceptance of Audited Financial Report 
March 28, 2012 
 
Purpose 
 
Paragraph 3.a.iii(A) of the grant agreement with the Oregon Public Utility Commission requires 
that annual financial statements be audited by an outside independent certified public 
accountant. This resolution accepts the audited financial report and opinion submitted by 
Perkins & Company, P.C. for the calendar year ended December 31, 2011, as recommended by 
the audit committee.   


Committee Review 
 
Reviewed by the Audit Committee. 


Recommendation 
 


RESOLUTION 625 
ACCEPTANCE OF AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT 


 
BE IT RESOLVED:  That Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors 
accepts the audited financial statement report, including an unqualified 
opinion, submitted by Perkins & Company, P.C. for the calendar year ended 
December 31, 2011. 


 
 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 








 


 
 
Board Decision 
Transfer Funds to Solar Electric Program Budget 
March 28, 2012 


Summary 
Transfer $1,770,000 to the 2012 Solar Electric program budget from the Other Renewables 
program budget and interest income reserve accounts. The transfer will meet an extraordinary 
jump in 2012 program activity, which coincided with a 40% reduction in the 2012 solar electric 
budget. Without this adjustment, we expect the Solar Electric program to exhaust its budget 
before the end of this year. The program is ratcheting down solar incentives to a level that can 
be sustained with annual renewable energy revenues in 2013 and beyond. 


Background 
• The Solar Electric program recently experienced unprecedented growth, especially in 


the residential sector, thanks to rapidly declining photo-voltaic (PV) module prices, 
strong consumer awareness and third-party ownership options that reduced the 
customer’s up-front costs. In the fourth quarter of 2011, we received double the volume 
as the same period in 2010. In the first quarter of 2012, the typical seasonal slowdown in 
the market did not occur and we received triple the volume of the same period in 2011.  


• The 2012 board-approved budget did not anticipate the high volume of commercial solar 
applications at the very end of 2011. Those projects consumed 20% of the 2012 budget 
for new projects in PGE and Pacific Power territories.  


• The 2012 budget for Solar Electric incentives for new residential and commercial 
projects (excluding utility-scale solar) is just 60% of the amount committed to new 
projects in 2011. Until 2012, the renewable energy programs had unspent carryover 
from previous budget years; there was no carryover in 2012, which explains this 40% 
reduction in the solar electric budget.  


• In order to manage to this smaller budget, we have already begun a systematic 
reduction in incentives throughout 2012. We expect these smaller incentives to allow the 
program to maintain about the same number of projects as in 2010 and 2011, primarily 
due to anticipated lower system costs. 


Discussion 
Funds for Portland General Electric customers  


• In November, the Solar Electric program “gave back” $1.2 million from its 2011 PGE 
budget that it did not expect to need, and those funds were distributed to other 
renewable energy program 2012 budgets. The “giveback” was based on our expectation 
that commercial solar projects with Business Energy Tax Credit precertifications would 
not apply for Energy Trust incentives, given their lack of progress for at least 8 months 
and numerous inquiries by staff.   


• In fact, commercial project applications in PGE territory jumped from $215,000 to 
$1,450,000 per month in December, creating an unanticipated $1,235,000 in obligations 
(roughly matching the funds we gave back), and consuming 20% of 2012 PGE funds. 







Transfer Funds to Solar Electric Program Budget     May 28, 2012 


 


Page 2 of 3 


 


• Staff proposes to fill this $1,235,000 gap from two sources: 


 $585,000 of PGE interest income from reserve account 


 $650,000 of PGE funds from the 2012 Other Renewables budget: 


 $300,000 for a hydro project that we do not expect to qualify for an incentive this 
year due to delays in permitting and increased cost; and   


 $350,000 that was included for anticipated growth in the small wind program in 
2012. We expect this growth to be delayed as the wind program is revamped and 
national wind turbine requirements and certification processes take effect May 1.  


Pacific Power 


• Late in 2011, the solar program received $845,000 of unanticipated incentive 
applications for ARRA-funded PV systems on low-income housing facilities. The 
applications came from numerous trade allies and Southern and Central Oregon 
community action programs in Pacific Power territory.  


• $535,000 of those applications were received after the board-approved budget was 
finalized, so that amount hit the Solar Electric 2012 incentive budget, consuming 20% of 
2012 Pacific Power funds. We do not expect the incentive budget to last through the 
year unless those funds can be replaced. 


• To bridge this gap, staff proposes to transfer $535,000 of Pacific Power interest income 
from reserve account. 


Procedure 


• The Finance Committee reviewed this recommendation on March 19.   


• The proposed use of interest income would not reduce the Energy Trust reserve account 
below the desired level. 


Recommendation 
• Adopt Resolution #626 to approve (i) a one-time transfer of $585,000 in PGE funds and 


$535,000 in Pacific Power funds from Energy Trust’s interest income reserve account to 
the 2012 Solar Electric program budget and (ii) a transfer of $650,000 in 2012 PGE 
funds from Other Renewables program budget to the Solar Electric program budget. 


 







Transfer funds to 2012 solar electric program budget March 28, 2012 


 


 


Page 3 of 3 


RESOLUTION 626 
TRANSFER FUNDS TO SOLAR ELECTRIC PROGRAM BUDGET 


WHEREAS: 
1. The Solar Electric program recently experienced unprecedented growth 


due to rapidly declining photo-voltaic (PV) module prices, strong 
consumer awareness and third-party ownership options that reduced 
customer costs. There were double the volume of incentive applications 
in the fourth quarter of 2011 compared to 2010, and triple the volume in 
the first quarter of 2012. 


2. The 2012 Solar Electric incentive budget (excluding utility-scale solar) is 
60% of the amount committed to new projects in 2011, due largely to the 
absence of carryover funding available in prior years.  


3. In order to manage this smaller budget, Energy Trust has begun to 
systematically reduce incentives throughout 2012, while maintaining 
project volume with help from anticipated lower system costs. 


4. Even with these reduced incentives, because of the extraordinary 
growth in program activity in late 2011 and early 2012, the Solar Electric 
Program is expected to exhaust its budget before the end of 2012 
unless a budget adjustment is made. 


5. Funds to maintain 2012 Solar Electric Program incentive activity are 
available from other renewable energy program funds and interest 
income. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 
1. The Solar Electric Program 2012 budget is increased by $1,770,000, 


$1,235,000 for projects in PGE service territory and $535,000 for 
projects in Pacific Power territory. 


2. The Other Renewables Program 2012 budget for PGE customer projects 
is reduced by $650,000, and the reserve account for interest income 
from PGE customer revenues is reduced by $585,000. 


3. The reserve account for interest income from Pacific Power customers 
is reduced by $535,000. 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 
 





